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Friday, September 25, 2015
--- On commencing at 10:38 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Today the OEB continues to sit on application EB-2014-0182 by Union Gas Limited to construct the pipeline and ancillary facilities in the Town of Milton and the Town of Oakville and for approval to recover the cost consequences of the development of the proposed project.

Yesterday we completed the cross-examination of the Union witness panel, and the plan today is to go through the cross-examination of the CME/OGVG witness panel.  The cross-examination is specifically focused on evidence related to the need for the project and alternatives to the project.

May I have appearances, please, from anyone who was not here yesterday.
Appearances:


MR. DeROSE:  Yes, good morning.  Vince DeRose on behalf of CME.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, Mr. DeRose.

MR. SMITH:  It's Crawford Smith on behalf of Union.  I believe an appearance was put in yesterday by my colleague, Mr. Keizer.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  I guess that's everybody.

According to the hearing plan that we distributed yesterday, so I guess I will start with introduction of the witness and affirmation of the witness to follow.  Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  Yes, hello.  If we could start by having our witness sworn?


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.
OGVG/CME - PANEL 1


Agnes Cheung, Affirmed.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Member Long.

Panel, how we proceed, or how we intend to proceed, is I am going to very quickly introduce Ms. Cheung to you, walk you through her qualifications, and we do not have any -- other than walking you through her qualifications, we do not have any direct examination which would in any way supplement her written evidence, which I believe is ready to be brought up on to the screen, if required.

Now, Ms. Cheung, you graduated in 1981 with a bachelor of applied science in chemical engineering from the University of Toronto; is that correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And from 1981 to 1999, you were employed by TransCanada Pipelines Limited, or TCPL?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And just in terms of your various roles with TCPL, between 1993 and 1995, you held the position of senior manager for transportation planning?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And then from 1995 to 1997, you were the senior manager in transportation planning and development?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And in that position, part of your responsibilities were for facilities planning, market forecast, costs of service, tolls forecast, and new services development; is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And then after that, between '97 and '99 you were the director of health, safety, and environment; is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And in 1999, you retired from TCPL?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I did.

MR. DeROSE:  And not being able to enjoy your retirement in the traditional way, you have become an energy consultant since 2000; is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And just for the Board's reference, at paragraph 2 of Ms. Cheung's evidence, she sets out, I think, a pretty comprehensive list of all the various companies that she has consulted with, but just to bring forth a few highlights, since that time you have advised the following companies:  Gas Mét, the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, BC Gas, El Paso, PG&E, the City of Calgary, Encana, BP Energy, the Canadian Alliance of Pipeline Landowners' Association, TransAlta, the Mackenzie Valley Aboriginal Pipeline, and Public Works and Government Services Canada; is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Amongst others.

And in terms of appearing before regulators, part of your role with -- with your various roles at TCPL, you appeared numerous times before the National Energy Board; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And at that time, the various matters which you testified before the National Energy Board on included economic feasibility, facilities planning, cost of service and toll forecasts, market forecasts, new services, and other related tolling matters.

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And in those various proceedings, your evidence, I take it, was -- your qualifications to provide evidence on those matters was accepted by the NEB?

MS. CHEUNG:  I hope so.  I was testifying on behalf of TransCanada.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And since you have become a consultant, you have also testified before the NEB on behalf of non-TCPL entities, including El Paso, BP -- or an industry group consist -- or an industry group which included BP, Krell, Devon, Encana, and Shell, as well as others?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  And you have also appeared before the Alberta Energy Utilities Board?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.  Back then it was called the EUB.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And one question just that one of my friends has asked, and we might as well deal with this upfront.  When we talk about what we have set out, what you have given testimony on with respect to economic feasibility, facilities planning, cost of service and toll forecasts, market forecasts, new service, and tolling matters, one of the areas which is not within your traditional expertise is gas supply; is that right?

MS. CHEUNG:  I can't give you a definitive yes or no because that question is so broad.  Gas supply as it affects economic feasibility, that is what I used to look at, and that is what I would look at, but gas supply in terms of arranging for the arrangements, no, I am not familiar with that at all.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

And just to confirm what you were asked for by intervenors in this proceeding to provide an opinion on, which is at paragraph 4 of your evidence, you were asked to provide an opinion on whether the anticipated growth and demand for natural services in Oakville and Burlington could be met without building new infrastructure.

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Panel, subject to any questions that my friends may have on Ms. Cheung's qualifications, we would submit that she is qualified to provide the opinion that she has provided and would ask that her evidence be tendered for cross-examination.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Any questions?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I have a few questions.  Mostly, I hope, in the clarification category.

Ms. Cheung, do you have -- I should say good morning.  My name is Crawford Smith.  We met before the start of this morning's proceeding.  I appear on behalf of Union Gas.

Do you have a copy of your report handy?

MS. CHEUNG:  My report, as in my evidence?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, your evidence dated June 29, 2015.

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I do have a copy.

MR. SMITH:  And you have, in the first three paragraphs of that report, in narrative format, a review of your curriculum vitae; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And I take it that that -- or those paragraphs fairly and accurately set out your relevant areas of experience?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is one way of putting it.  I put it in there just so that, if the Board doesn't want to go through all the details of my CV, they get a feel for what I have done in the past.

MR. SMITH:  You are aware -- and no doubt, counsel explained to you -- you have an obligation to set out your relevant experience in relation to the matters in which you are providing testimony?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.  And that is what I tried to do in paragraphs 2 and 3.

MR. SMITH:  And you did so fairly and accurately?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  As I understand it, you worked for TransCanada Pipelines between 1981 and 1999.

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And when you left, you had a health and safety responsibility.

MS. CHEUNG:  That was when I was at TransCanada.

MR. SMITH:  When you left TransCanada?

MS. CHEUNG:  No.

MR. SMITH:  When you left TransCanada in 1999, you were the director of health safety and the environment, were you not?

MS. CHEUNG:  No.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  What was your position when you left TransCanada?

MS. CHEUNG:  When I left TransCanada, I no longer held a position at TransCanada.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry; it's my question.  The last position you held at TransCanada was health, safety and the environment?


MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct, and that was between 1997 and 1999.

MR. SMITH:  And TransCanada Pipelines is a transmission company; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Part of it was, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And it's not a gas distribution company?

MS. CHEUNG:  No, it was not.

MR. SMITH:  And it does not, in fact -- you may or may not know this.  It does not have a statutory obligation to serve distribution customers?

MS. CHEUNG:  They did not have a statutory requirement to serve distribution, only because they didn't have any distribution customers.

Now there is -- I believe it was section 71.2 of NEB Act which would require TransCanada to serve a transmission customer, if that customer was wrongly not served by TransCanada, because it was a public -- TransCanada is an open-access transporter.

MR. SMITH:  Right, quite right.  Let me be more precise.  They are not a distribution company like Enbridge or Union?

MS. CHEUNG:  Definitely not, I would agree with you.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And, indeed, as a transmission company, they are not responsible for buying gas for companies like Union or Enbridge, are they?

MS. CHEUNG:  No, you are right.  After they switched over -- when I first joined TransCanada, we were still buying and selling gas, but that got changed.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And that was many, many years ago.

MS. CHEUNG:  Sadly, it was within my career.

MR. SMITH:  So their responsibility is to transport gas; they don't procure gas.

MS. CHEUNG:  Absolutely.  You're right.

MR. SMITH:  And they don't develop a gas supply plan the way Union or Enbridge would?

MS. CHEUNG:  Totally agree with you on that one.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now in paragraph 3, you refer to a number of regulatory proceedings in which you testified; do you see that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And my friend touched on these briefly, but I want to just go through them with a bit more detail.

In the first sentence, you refer to a number of proceedings in which you testified, and those were all at the National Energy Board on behalf of TransCanada; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then subsequently, you have testified a number of times at the National Energy Board as well?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Those are the hearings I would like to ask you about.

So first, in RH-1-2001, you testified on behalf of PG&E and El Paso?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that was TransCanada's 2001-2002 tolls and tariff proceeding; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the position of PG&E and El Paso in that proceeding, supported by your evidence, is that there should be some form of risk sharing in the tolls charged by TransCanada; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, that was what they were proposing.  But let's just take a step back as to what the purpose of that was.  The purpose of that particular proposal was to align the interests between TransCanada and their shippers.

MR. SMITH:  And the NEB ultimately disagreed with that proposal?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then you next testified in the MH1 2006 proceeding on behalf of BP, Krell, Devon Canada, and Shell; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that was an application by TransCanada to take line 1 out of service and sell it to the Keystone project; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And supported by your evidence, your clients disagreed with that?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.  My client wanted line 1 to remain in natural gas service.

MR. SMITH:  And the NEB ultimately disagreed?

MS. CHEUNG:  They did, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And TransCanada's approval was granted.

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And then you next testified on behalf of Saudi Energy at the GH1 2004 proceeding; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's the Mackenzie Valley project proceeding?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that proceeding, the purpose of -- I hope I am saying this right, Saudi Energy -- the purpose of that testimony was to provide an analysis of the proposed use of hydroelectric drive compressors in connection with the McKenzie Valley project; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And then you testified again in the RH-2-2008 proceeding on behalf of the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers -- sorry, on the Canadian Alliance of Pipeline Landowners.

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  My apologies.  And that was, in fact, a retainer from the Cohen Highley law firm?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And so we are on the same page, RH-2-2008 proceeding was a proceeding that concerned abandonment costs?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the issue there was the jurisdiction of the NEB to include abandonment costs in the tolls charged by pipeline companies?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And obviously the rate at which those abandonment costs -- or how those abandonment costs should be recovered.

MS. CHEUNG:  Supposedly, that is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And then you next testified on behalf of the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers in RH-3-2011; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that was the mainline restructuring case?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, it was.

MR. SMITH:  And your testimony in that proceeding, Ms. Cheung, was directed to pipeline integrity costs on the northern Ontario line; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  There was that, and then also the opportunity to reduce some of their operating and maintenance costs.

MR. SMITH:  Indeed, as you testified, there was an opportunity for TransCanada to reduce, by 26 million, its OM&A costs more consistent with what you described as a cost-conscious organization; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.  I do not remember the exact number, but you could be right.

MR. SMITH:  I have the benefit of having read your testimony recently.  Generally, that's what you testified?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And just pausing there, obviously you would expect TransCanada both to try and reduce costs and maximize revenues?

MS. CHEUNG:  Reduce costs definitely; it's a cost-sharing type of proposal.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And maximize revenues?

MS. CHEUNG:  I -- that was not my evidence.

MR. SMITH:  I know it wasn't your evidence. But as a regulated utility that has a risk-sharing mechanism, you would agree with me that it's in their interest and incentive to maximize revenue?

MS. CHEUNG:  As a general --


MR. SMITH:  As a general matter.

MS. CHEUNG:  I do agree with you on that point.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And indeed there was some unfortunate news you might have seen this morning, on the cover of the Globe and Mail this morning, about TransCanada --


MS. CHEUNG:  No, no.

MR. SMITH:  -- and financial challenges.

MS. CHEUNG:  No, I was studying for this.  I'm sorry.  I will find out what that is.

MR. SMITH:  Well, they are facing some economic challenges, and they may be laying some people off.

MS. CHEUNG:  Oh, yes, I heard about that.

MR. SMITH:  You would expect, in the case of that, that its shareholders would expect TransCanada to maximize revenues?

MS. CHEUNG:  Well, in that case, just reduce costs, maximize bottom line.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And there is two ways to do that.

MS. CHEUNG:  Any company would --


MR. SMITH:  Increase revenues, reduce costs.

MS. CHEUNG:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So the next time you testified was at the Alberta Utilities Commission, and that's the Langdon proceeding that you have referred to in your CV?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.  If I may?  Back then, it was EUB, the Energy and Utilities Board.  Subsequent to that, they split the Board up to AER -- part of it went to AER, and part of it went to the AUC.

MR. SMITH:  And just so we are perfectly clear, as I understand that, what we are talking about is the Langdon Waterworks.

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  So have we now touched on all of your testimony at the National Energy Board as a consultant?

MS. CHEUNG:  To the best of my recollection, those are all the ones that I remember, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  Okay. And you never testified before this Board?

MS. CHEUNG:  You know, when I was standing here yesterday, something came back to my mind that I do not remember the year.  I do remember it was in the '80s, and I remember a room similar to this, but it was different, and it was a Union case, and I remember the Board Panel was, I think, Mr. Macaulay, and on that particular panel it was Mr. Duloff, my VP, Mr. Feldman, my boss at the time, and I was on the stand.  And I don't remember saying other than, "Yes, I adopt the evidence."

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So subsequent --


MR. DeROSE:  If anything really turns on that, Mr. Smith, we could try --


MR. SMITH:  No, I don't think anything turns on it.

MS. CHEUNG:  That is the only one I forgot.  My apologies.  Because until yesterday, I didn't remember that.

MR. SMITH:  No need to apologize.

And I take it, in all of the matters that we have reviewed, your testimony since leaving TransCanada, none of the opinions that we have reviewed engaged the issue of gas supply planning or designing a gas supply or determining where gas supply should be sourced for a distribution utility or anything like that?

MS. CHEUNG:  You mean testifying on behalf of that client --


MR. SMITH:  I mean testifying --


MS. CHEUNG:  The answer is no.  Have I been retained by a client to look at gas supply?  The answer is yes.

MR. SMITH:  Well, Ms. Cheung, in none of the matters that we have reviewed or that is publicly available, did you testify in relation to any of the matters that --


MS. CHEUNG:  Which is why I said I agree with you that --


MR. SMITH:  Right.  And your --


MS. CHEUNG:  -- anything I testified to, no.

MR. SMITH:  And you have already agreed, indeed, in examination in-chief that you are not holding yourself out as an expert in gas supply planning, are you?

MS. CHEUNG:  Absolutely.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Those are my questions by way of clarification.  I am fine with the tender so long as it is perfectly clear that Ms. Cheung does not have any expertise and does not purport to have any expertise in relation to the issue of gas supply planning.

MR. DeROSE:  If there are no other questions, subject to any questions from the Board, Ms. Cheung is available for cross-examination, and I believe Mr. -- I am not sure what the order...

DR. ELSAYED:  I think, according to the plan, Mr. Rubenstein goes next.

MR. SMITH:  Just before we commence cross-examination, we may just want to hear from the Board with respect to whether Ms. Cheung is accepted to provide expert testimony and in relation to which areas.

MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry.  I took the nod from the Panel that we should proceed.  We would like a ruling.

MR. SMITH:  Perhaps I could be of assistance in...

DR. ELSAYED:  The Panel understands that Ms. Cheung is not purported to be an expert in the gas supply area, and maybe, Mr. DeRose, if you can just confirm for the Panel what specific areas you are suggesting.

MR. DeROSE:  In -- the question that she was asked to address was whether the anticipated growth in demand could be met without building new infrastructure, and from our perspective, her -- or, in our submission, her experience and her expertise in economic feasibility, facilities planning, cost of service, market forecasts, this is exactly the expertise that she has been asked to rely upon to give an opinion on whether there is an alternative, a no-build alternative, to the proposed pipeline.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So the Panel does agree, based on the qualifications that Mr. DeRose just explained, to accept Ms. Cheung's expertise in those areas, but we would not be accepting any elements, I guess, of the testimony that specifically relate to the gas supply area.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So with that, unless there are any other questions, we will proceed to Mr. Rubenstein's cross-examination.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just as a preliminary matter, I am a little just confused about what we mean by "gas supply," because Mr. Smith put that question to Ms. Cheung, and, as I recall, the area of expertise that she said she didn't have was with respect to -- and I will use the example of what we are talking about with this project -- procuring gas at Niagara, if it's good to do that, moving certain amounts of supply from Dawn to Niagara.  She doesn't speak to it.

But I think it gets a little confusion (sic) when we are talking about all the other aspects and how it relates to supply of gas through the transportation system to get to the distribution system, and I just want to understand if that's still in scope or not.

DR. ELSAYED:  Any comments?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, from our submission, it would be, because the economic -- or the economic feasibility in the facilities planning is clearly within her expertise, as is the development of new services and market forecasts.  I mean, in terms of the actual act of procuring gas supply and developing a gas supply plan, as Mr. Smith put to her, she has not developed a gas supply plan, but in terms of looking at the economic facility of -- or the economic feasibility of a proposed pipeline and looking at the feasibility of alternatives or whether alternatives exist is clearly within her expertise.

DR. ELSAYED:  Just for my understanding, are we saying that, if we were looking at the economic feasibility of several options for a pipeline, regardless of that, whether that pipeline is gas or something else, is that -- like, the fact that it is a gas pipeline is --


MR. DeROSE:  Well, I think, in fairness to Ms. Cheung, I don't think she has experience in anything other than gas pipelines, so I don't know whether she could be qualified as an expert on economic feasibility for a non-gas for something else, but certainly I do agree with you that she has that expertise.  That is what she has done for TransCanada for many years, and that is what she has done since.

DR. ELSAYED:  So the area of expertise is assessing alternatives and feasibility of the economics associated with gas pipelines; did I state that correctly?

MS. CHEUNG:  Economic feasibility of the assets, not particularly how much does it cost to bring the gas into the pipeline.  I am just looking at how does that gas get into the system, and where does it get into the system, how do I plan my system in between.

So I don't look at who gets -- how the gas is sold at the end of the pipe, and I don't look at how the gas gets to the beginning of the pipe.

DR. ELSAYED:  I see.

MS. CHEUNG:  I just look at how do I design that -- the infrastructure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think it solves what I am looking at, but I -- it's more Mr. Smith who seems to --


MR. SMITH:  Well, I'm happy --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- gas supply, so I would frame -- I'd ask Mr. -- through the Panel to Mr. Smith, is this sort of bridge point of gas supply -- once the gas has arrived, Ms. Cheung has no expertise, and I don't plan to ask her any questions about once the gas is at Niagara.  She can't speak to how it gets there, if it's good to bring in gas, what's the cost to bring in the physical molecules to gas.  Everything on that side of the pipe, so to speak, she can't speak to, but everything -- once the gas is in, she can speak to where it goes and what the economics of it.

MR. SMITH:  Well, this is just a very polite way for Mr. Rubenstein to ask Union to preview its argument, but the answer to that question is, yes.  I mean, there are -- you will have heard yesterday a good deal of evidence from the Union witnesses and in the alternative proposal that engage questions of gas supply, and that's why I asked the questions that I did.  I mean, Ms. Cheung's evidence says:

"In the future, Union could increase the supply from Niagara to meet its aggregate demand for Union South.  Purchasing additional supply at Niagara is consistent with Union's gas supply planning objectives and principles."
And that is an opinion directly in relation to whether something is or is not consistent with the gas supply planning and principles, and that's a matter that Ms. Cheung does not have the expertise to provide.

So we will be saying, at the end of the day, that those portions of the evidence that deal with gas supply planning and principles should be disregarded as opinion evidence.

To the extent Ms. Cheung is costing the cost of the pipe and that sort of thing, you know, that's fine.  She did a lot of that for TransCanada. and I understand that, and I am not disputing that.

So that is, I hope, of assistance to my friend.  I should also say, of course, that the Board -- as the Board will be well aware, gas supply planning is a recognized area of expertise at the Board.  Indeed, Union was directed to retain an independent gas supply expert in its cost of service proceeding in 2011-0210, and it did that.  And that party, Sussex, was indeed ultimately accepted and qualified as a gas supply expert and that's fine.  But that's not Ms. Cheung, and that is a distinction that we will be making.

MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps, if I can just try and summarize.  I think you are being put into a bit of a difficult situation in this sense.  Mr. Smith is taking a very broad definition of gas supply so that it covers everything that has anything to do with the cost of gas, period.  We are taking a very broad approach to economic feasibility and facilities planning, because facilities planning -- I mean, you cannot look at economic feasibility and facilities planning without having certain assumptions or certain information with respect to the cost of gas as it enters the pipe.  That, in our submission, that's clearly within the purview of Ms. Cheung's expertise.

Mr. Smith referred to the gas supply evidence that they had in their last case.  I think that is an example of a gas supply expert, and there is a reason why there is no gas supply expert in this proceeding, because the issues dealt with in that case, which were clearly gas supply related, are very different than looking at a proposed pipeline and whether there are alternatives.

So to be honest, I mean, other than saying Ms. Cheung is not a gas supply expert, ultimately at the end of the day, if there are arguments about whether some or parts of her evidence fall within gas supply, I submit that's something that -- it’s something that you should look at once you receive all of the final argument.

I think you have clearly said Ms. Cheung is here to provide evidence on -- not on gas supply as a gas supply expert, but as an expert in economic feasibility and facilities planning.  And that is something that can be dealt with in final argument.

MS. LONG:  Are you concerned, Mr. Smith, with the way in which this witness has been qualified?  I thought we were fairly clear in what we said, and I expect that you will put to the witness, when you are doing your cross-examination, certain areas in which you may have some questions.

I don't expect Ms. Cheung will be giving evidence on liquidity at Niagara.  I mean, there are certain things that I just would not expect us to spend much time on, and ultimately it will be up to the Panel to decide what weight we are going to put on any evidence that she provides to us that may stray outside the confines of this opinion evidence.

I think that's probably the best we can do at this point, given the nature of this, and I expect that you are dealing with it in your cross-examination.  But does that cause you still concern?

MR. SMITH:  No, that's fine.  The tender is clear.  If I have to deal with it in cross-examination, I will deal with it in cross-examination, or I may deal with it in argument, because there are matters which are plainly stated and plainly not within her expertise, and I am not -- having cross-examined her already on it, I wouldn't propose to retread that cross-examination.  I will just simply rely on the transcript of the cross-examination I have already conducted.  But to the extent I need to, I will deal --


MS. LONG:  You will raise it.

MR. SMITH:  I will raise it.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Back to Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Cheung.  Do you have my compendium, the same compendium I provided yesterday?  This is A1.3, and I will be using that.

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to begin by just understanding your alternative proposal a little bit better, and there was a lot -- you were here yesterday during the testimony, so you heard Union's panel?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you will see there is a lot of discussion -- and this was in their reply evidence as well -- there was a lot of discussion about, under your proposal, how much supply would Union need to source from Niagara for it to work.  And their reply evidence seems to suggest that it could be 276 TJs.

What is your proposal with respect to how much would need to be procured from Niagara for it to be viable?

MS. CHEUNG:  I have seen, in Union's reply evidence, and also what I heard yesterday, that there is some misinterpretation of what I tried to do in my evidence.

All I wanted to suggest was that Union could start supplying or purchasing gas supply from Niagara.  From a design perspective, it's so much closer; then they wouldn't have to build this pipeline. So am I saying that they must -- as they used the term "should," should they contract for 276 TJs per day right from Day 1?  I think that would be pretty silly to do that because the demand of 276 TJs per day is in 2035.  They don't need that much gas right now, or they don't need that much capacity on their system right now.

So then my proposal looked at 276 TJs per day because that's what Union ultimately wants to get to.  So then, from my perspective, if I look at anything less – for me, that's a worst case scenario, that, if my proposal works for 276 TJs per day, it will work for something less than that.

So am I suggesting 276?  No.  I am suggesting Union should start looking at it, and because this is a contracting strategy, what is their immediate need.  If their immediate need is only 60 TJs per day to replace the exchange, then that is what you would contract for and look at contracting for.

And if they say, you know what, I am not comfortable even 60 TJs per day, as I heard yesterday they have made some arrangement with TransCanada, so what exact number?  I am not telling Union how much to contract for.  I am saying you have an alternative; you don't have to build right now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The evidence on the record, as I understand it, is -- for 2016, the Burlington-Oakville peak demand is about 206 TJs a day.  And just for your own understanding, I am looking at D FRPO 10, Attachment 2, page 1, line 12.  I don't think you need to turn it up.

So let's talk about 2016, not 2035.  In 2016, under your proposal then, Union would not need to procure at Niagara the capacity for 206 TJs.

MS. CHEUNG:  206 or 276?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  206, and this would be 2016.

MS. CHEUNG:  No.  Gosh, no.  They already have arrangements to meet their November 1, 2016 demand anyways.

So then if you want to look at the first year that you would look at buying gas at Niagara, it would be for the 2017 year, contract year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I understood Union's evidence yesterday, just a high-level summary, that it's very hard to procure gas at Niagara.  For a whole host of reasons, it's expensive to get that amount of gas.  So if we accept Union's evidence that it's either not possible, or it's uneconomic to procure that gas, is your plan feasible?

MS. CHEUNG:  I listened to that yesterday, and I had the same question you have, and I say if they -- the reason why I suggested in one of the outstanding issues for Union to address is the liquidity at Niagara and how much to get at Niagara.  So that's a gas supply issue that I don't have any expertise on; that my evidence did not look at, and that is why I have called it one of the outstanding issues.

So does it work?  Yes, it still can, if Union wants to make it work, because there is more gas coming at Niagara, and I agree with them the liquidity, all that.  I listened to them, and I agree --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me -- I just want to back up.  The question I asked is:  Just assume Union is correct that you cannot get the gas at Niagara, or it's just uneconomical.  Does your plan work?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, because they can go upstream of Niagara.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So -- but again, that's -- but that's going upstream of Niagara, but just under the assumption, just for this question, the assumption that you can't for all those reasons -- gas, you know, is not -- can't be procured or it's not economical.  Can your plan work?

MS. CHEUNG:  Under that scenario, if Union cannot buy gas at Niagara Falls, then, no, because my proposal requires contracting from Niagara.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Now, I want to turn to page 2 of my compendium, and this is where Union talks about the issues it has, what it calls the three fundamental issues it has with your proposal, and I want to understand that.

And the first thing is that the alternative proposal would disconnect the Burlington-Oakville system from Dawn, thus eliminating the benefits of the integrated Dawn Parkway system and the strategic Dawn hub.  Does your proposal do that?

MS. CHEUNG:  If some of you can turn up my -- in the CV -- CME/OGVG response to Union IR No. 3B, and while you are turning that up I can start speaking.

So Union has suggested that my proposal would totally disconnect Burlington-Oakville from the rest of the system, and I never intended for that to happen, because the Union-Dawn-Parkway system is a very integral part, and their storage is a very integral part of my proposal.

And the reason I say that is because, first of all, in my response to Staff IR No 4, 4A, I noted that -- their existing connections between Union and TransCanada and that no new facilities are required to effect to accommodate the 276 TJs per day.

Now, in my response to Union IR No. 3B, I provided how you would -- you know, using their term is operationalize.  I use the term integrate -- that how would you integrate additional supplies from Niagara?  And if you look at Union IR No. 3B, I highlighted the importance of the integration.

I don't disconnect the two systems.  I -- my proposal requires that they are totally integrated, and the nutshell is that the no-build alternative requires existing Union assets, not building any new assets, existing Union assets, and it provides an opportunity to optimize, to integrate the new supplies into the existing systems in terms of serving the Burlington system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you --


MS. CHEUNG:  Does that help?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask what you mean by "integrate"?

MS. CHEUNG:  Okay.  Thank you.  By integrating -- see, the difficulty I have with the Union operationalize concept is they are looking at Burlington-Oakville and my proposal as an isolated on/off.  It's on, 276, Day 1, and it only serves this, and I am not going to look at anything else, and how am I going to price this out, whereas I am looking at integration as, okay, we have got a lot of -- meaning Union, if I were Union -- I look at Union and say, okay, I have got storage at Dawn.  I have got a market over here, Burlington-Oakville.  I have got my Dawn Parkway system, and I -- if I bring in more gas supply from Niagara, I have markets in Hamilton; I have markets over here.

Now, how am I going to get the gas from Niagara, serve my market over here?  And on the days that I don't need this gas supply, I have to get it into storage, and that's an integral part of my proposal.  My proposal doesn't separate it out.

So integration is -- there is already storage, because my proposal also suggests that this is not brand new -- 276 or whatever the number that they want to use, it is not brand-new gas supply.  It envisages displacement of current -- some current supplies, and that means they already have the storage capacity.  All they have to do is get it into storage.

And through the IR responses from Union Gas that I was able to ascertain that, yes, they have excess capacity sitting right there on the Dawn Parkway system.  Once the gas can get into Kirkwall, they can get into storage, so -- if they need to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So Union's understanding of your proposal and what you just said is, assuming that you are taking the peak demand, that that was the capacity that you would contract from Niagara; am I correct?  That is your understanding of what their characterization of your plan is?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, in their operationalized version of your plan, they say it's more appropriate to take the average demand.  You have read that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that -- do you agree with that?  That is actually a more appropriate way?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes and no.  See, again we are mixing the peak day, average day, and I know this is system planning work.  Do you design your system on peak or average?  When you look at -- when I look at the 94, whatever that number is, it's not really operationalized.  You know, they call it operationalized.

I just called it, if you were to buy -- what if you just buy 94 TJs per day from Niagara, contract with TransCanada, or contract from Niagara to the ECDA, the new thing, you know, or to -- the current vernacular is CDA.  You just get 94 TJs per day to the CDA, and that's really all that it is.  You know, don't talk about this operationalize and how much you need to charge them from the Dawn Kirkwall system.  I am going -- but we are making it too complicated.  We can just look at it very easily.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me try to make it a little less complicated, or at least from my simplistic understanding of this.

You'd agree with me, in the summer, the Burlington-Oakville demand is significantly less than 94 TJs, which would be the average?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I am -- even in the winter, it could be lower.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you would agree that contracting the peak demand or the average demand, unless you are not fully utilizing the pipe, you would have an excess amount of gas coming in?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is absolutely right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding from Union's evidence is, because of that, the best thing to do is you take that capacity and the gas, and you put it in storage for when you have peak demand.  Is that your understanding?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's -- in part, yes, that's one of the things that Union has said, but in my response to Union IR -- I shouldn't say "my" -- CME/OGVG, because I represent -- my evidence was sponsored by the two companies -- that in the response to Union number 3B I said that when gas is flowing from Dawn towards Parkway, any excess from the Niagara contract, they can get it into Kirkwall.  It actually displaces, reduces the amount of gas that Union has to transport from Dawn to Kirkwall through a displacement.

So it doesn't go back into storage, because gas is already going to Parkway.  So that is what integration means is: How do you blend the two flows together?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And some other gas would then go into storage at Dawn.

MS. CHEUNG:  They just don't bring as much out.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But we are talking about in the summer.  I am just using an example where nothing is going out of storage.  It's going into storage, so some other flow at Dawn would go into storage to replace the gas that's at Kirkwall.

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MS. CHEUNG:  Or you can actually move the gas backwards towards Dawn.  They have the capacity on the Dawn Parkway system to do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about -- if I could take you back to page 2 of the compendium, on No 3, I want to ask you about just briefly this was that your proposal does not include the $8.25 million annual cost for this 135 TJs of Kirkwall to amended Union CDA transportation capacity.

We heard a lot of discussion from Union.  My understanding is currently they are getting this capacity for free.  The question is:  What happens if the Burlington to Oakville project is not included?  Do you have any insight?  You have -- let me put it this way:  Do you have any special insight for us to believe that TransCanada would continually not require them to charge for that capacity?

MS. CHEUNG:  If -- again, I work with pictures; pictures work with me.  So if you can call up OGVG/CME response to OEB Staff No. 2, at the very end of that response, there are two diagrams.  Take a look at the top diagram.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. CHEUNG:  TransCanada, after the Greater Golden Horseshoe facilities application, after those modifications are complete, they are going to be bringing a lot of gas up to Kirkwall through their Niagara export line.  And I understand Union is saying TransCanada wants to maximize their revenue; I hear that.  But if you take a look at that particular map, gas is flowing from Niagara up to Kirkwall.

Now, what TransCanada wants to charge Union is for transportation from Kirkwall back to that little junction where the 287 comes off.  Hydraulics doesn't allow gas to go in two different directions.  They hit each other, and it doesn't work.  Gas only flows one way.  Gas flows from Niagara up to Kirkwall.

So then, if there is an example, a prime example of what an operational exchange is, this is operational exchange.  So would TransCanada continue to give them the free service?  I don't know.  I can't definitively say yes or no.

Now, what I would suggest to you is this:  What if Union was correct when they said during the technical conference that the $8.3 million is there to keep TransCanada revenue neutral?  What if that was the intent?  And so if Union were to go back and show them this, "Hey, TransCanada, I am doing -- by giving me less -- by me giving you gas at Kirkwall, you don't have to transport as much through your system, so there is actually a benefit to you.  Oh, and, by the way, I am going to add more contract on your system by contracting with you from Niagara, and I know that you can actually provide this service without adding any facilities."

So it's a negotiation.  I see this as more of a negotiation as opposed to, oh, I have to get that.  I don't know what the final outcome is.  So is it zero, or is it 8.3?  I don't know.  It could be zero; it could be 8.3.  The likelihood of zero is low.  Can Union go and negotiate with TransCanada and try to get something less than 8.3?  Maybe, I don't know.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what would be Union's bargaining chip in that?

MS. CHEUNG:  The bargaining chip would be I can -- I will contract with you, because your objective is to get more revenue.  Okay?

So let's say that I give you the $8.3 million, but that's it; that is all I am going to give you.  Now, on the other hand, if you go to Union and say, "You know what?  Let's negotiate this down, but" -- because this is an operational exchange; right?  An operational exchange.  It is not a tariff service, so then you can negotiate that price.

And then you say, "But, at the same time, I am going to give you more revenue because I am going to contract with you from Niagara to the CDA."

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me -- just so I can sum up and make sure I am clear, the chip that Union has, per se, here is don't charge us the full $8.25 million, because we are going to give you all this money from contracting on your services, so the 20-odd million dollars that wouldn't be there otherwise.

MS. CHEUNG:  8.3 million – oh, you mean the contract at Niagara?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. CHEUNG:  I don't know what that is.  It could be anything, you know, as long as it is more than the 8 million here; right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If I can turn you to page 9 of my compendium, this is Union's adjustments to the alternatives proposal.  It's what they call operationalize, and I just want to walk through a few of these and ask you about them.

We talked about a number of these things.  The first one we talked about was that it would disconnect the Burlington-Oakville system from Dawn.  And am I correct that, from our discussions, you don't agree with that statement?

MS. CHEUNG:  Oh, sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the first operational issue that they have is that your proposal will disconnect the Burlington-Oakville system from Dawn, and I am correct that you don't agree with that, that you do not agree that your proposal does that in the first place?

MS. CHEUNG:  You know there are so many negatives and positives there -- you are correct in your statement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

The second thing they talked about is No. 2:  The alternative proposal oversupplies the Burlington-Oakville system.  A more appropriate way to operationalize the alternative proposal is to buy average-day amounts rather than design-day amounts, and that is essentially what their variation does.

We had a discussion about this before --


MS. CHEUNG:  And this is where I said I don't look at average day.  I just look at an additional amount, so --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we will get to this after, but ultimately the Board is comparing two proposals here; right?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I want to understand.  If the Board was coming up with numbers for your proposal so it could make a comparison to Union's proposal, what would be the number that it would contract from Niagara?  Union says yours is 276; you said that may or may not be the case.  Their operationalized version is 94; this is in 2035.  What is yours so we can do the apples-to-apples comparison?

MS. CHEUNG:  We can use the 94, but let's just take a – again, let's just take a step back.  I am not -- my evidence says look at this more closely, build up an FT strategy.  It isn't 276, because their operationalized alternative is to contract for the entire 276 TJs per day right from Day 1.  I am not suggesting that at all.  I am suggesting they go back and take a look at the -- come up with an FT strategy, what should it be.

You went to FRPO 10.  In 2017, they need 210 TJs per day.  So, under my alternative, what -- that's contracting at Niagara.  What could you contract at Niagara?  Should you contract for 210?  210 less 54?  210 less 54 less the current -- their existing arrangements on TransCanada?

There are different alternatives.  I just provided one, but there are different ways of getting there.

So then you look at that at 2017.  How would you meet the demand?  And then you look at 2027.  You know, how would you -- on an annual basis, you would look at it and take some snapshots, and I did that as preparation of this.  You take some snapshots and say, "How much would you need, because you don't need 276?"  Is it 94, or it is some other number?  It could be some other number.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if the Board is going to look at this and wants to get a sense really to compare, is average -- putting aside numbers, is it the -- my understanding is Union then assumes, based on their comparisons, that you are looking at peak.  You should be -- your proposal is peak-day demand; their operationalized is average-day demand.  Is average day an acceptable way for the Board to make these comparisons between your proposal and the build proposal by Union?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.  That could be used as a proxy, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

I want to move to the fourth alternative here, and it assumes that the alternative proposal suggests Union should no longer be using the 54 TJs of capacity that it currently has on its NPS-8 Milton line and the NPS 12-Parkway line from the Dawn Parkway system to Burlington and Oakville.  And they say there are some problems in doing this, and we also heard testimony from Union that this would be essentially stranding assets.

Does your proposal assume that you do not use these assets?

MS. CHEUNG:  No, my proposal presented the worst case scenario, which would be not to use the 8-inch or the 12-inch.  If I assume the use of the 8-inch and the 12-inch, then you would contract for less, and the cost to what I propose for the 276 would actually be less -- would be lower.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we move to the fifth --


MS. CHEUNG:  So I don't disagree with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Move to the fifth.  This is:

"The alternative proposal assumes that quantities greater than 200 TJs can be shipped from Niagara to Parkway using the domestic line."

And Union takes the position -- there was a lot of discussion yesterday about, well, what is the actual capacity, and I know there is an undertaking to ask TransCanada.  But say Union is correct, only 200 TJs is available in the winter in peak.  Does your proposal still work?

MS. CHEUNG:  Of course it does.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.  That was the two graphs.  If we can call up the two the graphs in CME/OGVG response to Staff No. 2.  Thank you.

Okay.  You take a look at the top and the bottom.  Okay.  So the top -- the top picture shows you what they mean by the 200 -- the capacity of the 200.  When we talk about that capacity constraint of 200 TJs per day, that's to Parkway; that's not to the ECDA.  So then, if TransCanada has another contract with Union to deliver an additional -- in the bottom one I used the worst case scenario -- 276 TJs per day, so if Union contracts 276 TJs per day, how is TransCanada going to deliver that when they said, "Oh, my God, you only have 200 TJs per day to Parkway"?

And this is something that Union said yesterday -- and I don't think you guys heard what he said -- was they would do it by displacement.  What does displacement mean to you?  And that is what is in the second diagram.  It shows you what displacement means.

What they are going to do is -- because, again, you can't have TransCanada -- TransCanada only has one pipeline between -- on that graph, on that map, between the point where it says ECDA and Parkway, TransCanada only has one pipeline.  If that pipeline is used to transport gas from Niagara to Consumers -- my God, I used "Consumers" -- to Enbridge at Parkway, that's it.  That's all that line can do.

If Union wants to move gas from or transport gas from Parkway back down to the ECDA, TransCanada has no other pipeline that can do that.  TransCanada only has one pipeline.

So what that says is you have to do it by displacement; that the capacity between mainline valve 209 -- that would be near Hamilton -- to mainline valve 207 -- and that will be near Burlington -- that section has the capacity of 287 TJs per day.  So if Union wants 276 TJs per day to be dropped off in that particular area, TransCanada has enough capacity.  They will drop that off.

Now, you say, well, what happened to -- what happened to the Enbridge volume?  The Enbridge volume cannot move up there.  All of it cannot move up there.  Only 11 TJs per day according to this -- right?  Only 11 TJs a day can move up to Parkway.  The rest has to come through the Dawn Parkway system from Union.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, maybe I misunderstood the discussion that happened yesterday about that.  My understanding was it was Union's position that between -- so on the domestic line, between the ECDA and where the domestic line and the export line split off, essentially, on your map, there is only 200 that's available, not 287.  That was my understanding of Union's contention yesterday, and I just want to understand.  If Union is right and TransCanada confirms that, that you can't get 287, does your proposal still work?

MS. CHEUNG:  If Union's -- what Union is saying is correct, then none of the commercial alternatives in their application would work, because we are making use of the exact same facilities.  Maybe the OGVG Attachment 1 is a better way of looking at it.

When Union looked at build or buy, build is they build the Burlington-Oakville pipeline; buy is getting transportation services on TransCanada.  Now, how is that gas going to get to the ECDA?  It's the same way, the no-build alternative that I have proposed.  It's exactly the same way.  If it doesn't work in my proposal, then none of their commercial proposals -- alternatives would work as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, just to confirm, the commercial alternatives -- I believe there was four or five others in the evidence -- it's your position that, if it is only 200 TJs that can be -- that can flow through that line, then those commercial alternatives -- putting aside the costing difference, which Union says why they rejected those.  It couldn't actually feasibly even be done to begin with?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is what I am saying, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Can I ask you to turn, then, to page 11?  This is the chart where -- page 11 of my compendium, and this is the operationalized alternative chart, and I just want to now just confirm what we agree with and -- what you agree with, with the operationalized version and what you don't.

MS. CHEUNG:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So on -- and I am looking at the diagram.  So you would agree that from -- and I am looking at the Niagara to Kirkwall.  This is the 94 TJs.  This is the average day.  You would agree that that is a way -- it's a sensible way -- it's a proxy of a way that they could take on a contracting strategy from Niagara?

MS. CHEUNG:  Sure, but just a minute.  You can use 94, definitely, but that arrow doesn't go from Niagara to Kirkwall.  It should go from Niagara to Burlington Oakville because that's what you are contracting for.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then help me understand.  If you are contracting for that, but then, again, if we are talking about in the summer where there is, I think, a 22 -- the average is 22 TJs.  That's a summer peak.  I'm sorry.  That's a minimum -- I guess not the peak.  That's the minimum demand.  What happens with all the other gas?

MS. CHEUNG:  That would be done through diversion, and you heard that term used quite a bit.  We can't rely on firm diversion, and we have been curtailed in the past because of diversion.  And I know what they are talking about, and it is a risk, but the question is:  Is it a real risk, or is it a perceived risk?  And TransCanada will not curtail diversion just for the heck of it.  I trust that they would not.

And so if you take a look at what the term "diversion" is, their primary delivery point is in the ECDA.  So on the days that they don't need the gas delivered in the ECDA, they need to divert it elsewhere.  When you divert it, it's not firm.  They don't have a firm call to move their gas to Kirkwall.  I agree with that.

The question is:  Realistically, does that gas -- can that gas get to Kirkwall?  And, now, using the Union path terminology -- and remember what they said, and that's what on this graph is -- on this Figure 5.3 as well -- that, in order for the gas to get there, what TransCanada has to do is they have to expand from -- to bring the gas from Niagara up to Kirkwall, across Union's system to Parkway, and then TransCanada will move it down to Burlington-Oakville.  That's the first step in that.  TransCanada has to build facilities.

Now, in this case, TransCanada doesn't need to build facilities.  You have got all kinds of excess capacity.  TransCanada can move their gas.  They have the capability.  It's just that it isn't contractually -- TransCanada is not contractually obligated to move that gas from Niagara to Kirkwall, but Union knows that is what TransCanada will have to do, make sure that there is capacity to move that gas through what they call a path.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then, if we are looking at the map, based on your view that it's -- potentially TransCanada will allow for the diversion -- then there is no need to put the excess amount of gas in storage at Dawn?  So that 66 TJs that flows from Kirkwall on this diagram to Dawn and the costs associated would not be incurred?

MS. CHEUNG:  Oh, they still -- oh, I didn't say that they wouldn't.  All I am saying is that the primary would be from Niagara to Burlington-Oakville.  What they don't need, the excess, whatever that is, because the excess -- if we are looking at the ultimate case of 276, the excess could be 276 minus 28, some huge number -- more than 94 actually; right?

That difference would actually have to come back and that will have to go into storage.  The 66 in this diagram, sure, if we use the 66, it does have to get back into Dawn. But that direct line, that 94 TJs per day, is not a solid line; it is a dotted line.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So it's a dotted average, and you have agreed that is a good proxy of the amount of average used.

MS. CHEUNG:  No.  The 94 is still -- that arrow still moves to Burlington-Oakville.  But I am not touching the 66; the 66 is still going to be there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there is a cost to doing that, you would agree with me?

MS. CHEUNG:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why would there not be a cost?

MS. CHEUNG:  Well, you heard Ms. Elliott yesterday that the Dawn Parkway system cost is allocated on winter peak-day demand of the -- what they forecast to be the winter peak-day demand for the in-franchise customers that will move through the Dawn Parkway system.  So winner peak day demand is zero.  If I look at the 276 case, so no cost would be allocated to the in-franchise customers.  They don't have a way to do that.

And what they were saying yesterday in their panel was, yeah, there is the allocated -- a cost of $0.9 million.  But under the current cost allocation methodology, there is no cost associated with that and that's -- I think that is what I meant by integration is there is excess capacity sitting right there; make use of it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How familiar are you with Union's cost allocation?

MS. CHEUNG:  At one point, very familiar.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you familiar with the current --


MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I am, with what I have read so far. But I am not an expert.  Okay?  Again, I just had a cursory look to see if my proposal would work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me just ask you this question, and maybe or maybe not you can answer this.  Your comment that there is no charge is based on the current allocation that was put in place for the 2013 rate year when they rebased, is that your understanding of what the evidence was yesterday?

MS. CHEUNG:  When I say "cost allocation methodology," I am talking about what they have been approved.  And I understand that that cost allocation methodology has been there for a long, long time.  When the distinction is the cost that's been allocated, yes, it came from there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my question is:  When Union decides to -- in 2018, I believe, when they are coming for their rebasing application, is there a chance, then, based on the methodology just being updated with new numbers, that those costs then would be the 66 TJs, there would be a cost passed on?

MS. CHEUNG:  No.  As long as they maintain the current cost allocation methodology, that $0.9 million, there is no way to calculate that number, to allocate that number based on the current methodology.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If I can ask you to turn to page 28, I just want the walk through some of the physical numbers here.

MS. CHEUNG:  On page – which?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Page 28 of my compendium.  This is from FRPO 10, Attachment 3, and this is where they do the breakdown of the costs between Union's operationalized model and -–

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubenstein, can you move your mic?  I am having trouble hearing you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm sorry.

This is a comparison, from what I understand, between Union's operationalized version of your proposal.

MS. CHEUNG:  Oh, are we done with Figure 5.3 already?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. CHEUNG:  But I don't agree with some of the other numbers in here either.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I think we are going to deal with that here.

MS. CHEUNG:  Oh, okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I recognize we have had some discussion, but I didn't want to go through every single one again.  And I want to look at the operationalized alternative model, and I want to use -- and as you can see, this is first shown at lines 8 through 11; do you see that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is with the -- and you will see as well on page 19 -- lines 19 -- sorry, lines 14 through 18 is, again, the operationalized alternative model, but it's the one without the 135 TJ Kirkwall contract.

MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's look at that one first.  Let's look at line 14, and this is the total paid to TCPL, and those lines are -- those numbers are derived from line 21, which is the addition of 19 and 20.  Do you agree with those numbers?

MS. CHEUNG:  No.  And the reason I say that is, if we come back to Figure 5.3, we are not looking at a whole bunch of numbers, because when you look at FRPO 10, Attachment 3, it's on an annual basis, and there's a lot of numbers.  And it's really the annualized number of Figure 5.3, except meeting just the demand of that particular year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to understand, just --


MS. CHEUNG:  And do I agree with these numbers?  No, because of the premises behind them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I just want to just quickly go through each of the premises.

MS. CHEUNG:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to be clear.  There's a lot of numbers, and it goes for many, many years.  I just want to know the methodology of what's being calculated here that you don't agree with.

We are talking about here the tolls paid to TCPL, and you don't agree with that.  Can you just briefly explain why?

MS. CHEUNG:  Because these numbers -- if we can go back to Figure 5.3, these numbers are based on -- if you look at 2035, they would be exactly as what Figure 5.3 would show, that the dollars paid to TCPL would include the contracts from Niagara to Kirkwall and then from Parkway to Burlington-Oakville.  And what I am suggesting to you is that they done have to pay that much money, that they have signed one contract with TransCanada.  So then you reduce the total cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is based on the understanding that -- I think it was in a TransCanada letter that we talked about yesterday, that the cost to go from Niagara to the ECDA is the same, regardless of what physical path the gas actually moves.  So if it has to go -- if just goes on the domestic line versus it goes up to Kirkwall to Parkway and then down to Bronte.  Am I correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  There was discussion yesterday that, well, you need two contracts; one to do that, that may be the case.  But there is also an amount where -- for the amount you need to take to storage, or the amount that isn't flowing -- do you recall that part of the conversation, where Union said they would actually need two types of contracts here?

MS. CHEUNG:  They said they need two contracts because they can't count on firm diversion.  And what I am suggesting to them is there is capacity there, and you are not -- you know, let's not pay, in this case, 222, Parkway to Union -- so in order to get 94 TJs per day, we come back to figure -- because Figure 5.3 splits it out, so you can see the numbers better.  What you want to do is contract for 94 TJs per day to Niagara, from Niagara to the ECDA, Burlington-Oakville.  But by having the extra contracts, you see, you just pay twice.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to short-circuit this. This was the conversation we just had about you could potentially do the diversion or, if not, you could bring it back to Dawn and, because of the way these costs are allocated, there is no actual additional cost to customers. Is that --


MS. CHEUNG:  No.  These contracts is just to give Union the firm diversion rights --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MS. CHEUNG:  -- because they actually contract for these particular paths.  So instead of one contract with diversion, they said, no, we are going to do two contracts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then if I am looking at line -- back to the sheet at line 15, this is the allocated Dawn Parkway tolls, and the derivation of that is at line 25, which is the total of lines 22 to 24.  Do you agree with those numbers?

MS. CHEUNG:  And that's where they have the 66 -- the equivalent of the 66 TJs per day from Kirkwall to Dawn?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that would be line 22.

MS. CHEUNG:  And that should be zero.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, what about the line at 23, cost to ship to Dawn to Kirkwall?

MS. CHEUNG:  From Dawn to Kirkwall on Union, in this particular case, sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what about the cost to ship to Kirkwall to Parkway?

MS. CHEUNG:  Kirkwall to Parkway.  That's the portion between Kirkwall to Parkway, yes, but only for 182, not for the entire 276.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Can I take you to pages 12 and 13?  This was the discussion that I had yesterday with Union.  We were talking about -- these were the comparisons based on their version and your version, which I recognize you don't accept their numbers.  But if we can look at page 13 and assume the Board agrees with Union's numbers of your -- that to do what you are saying a no-build has to be how Union has operationalized it, and I want to understand -- I put to Union this chart looks to me like you shouldn't be building anything until 2028 or where those lines converge, and Union said no.  My understanding of their evidence:  Here are some other benefits of why you want to do it now.  Do you agree with that?

Well, let me first say:  Do you recall that conversation?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I do recall that conversation, and you -- by asking me that question and if I answer your question directly, and only your question you posed, and I am agreeing with the numbers that's on Figure 5.5?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  You are not agreeing with the numbers, but --


MS. CHEUNG:  Good.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- let's just say the Board says Union's numbers are right.  I just want to understand.  Do you agree that you should be building it now, not in 2028?

MS. CHEUNG:  One of the biggest difficulties I had with that particular answer was -- and I came from TransCanada, so I am aware of situations where you have encroachment, and they said, with urban growth, this is the opportunity right now.  We have the right-of-way; we have the easement, and we can do it now, and we wait.  There is going to be a lot more -- there is going to be people moving.  There is population growth.  There is encroachment.  People are moving in.

Now, I think -- pulling up the OGVG Exhibit B, OGVG 1, I think that would help as well.  If you have a lot -- and that map shows that you have got a lot of population, a lot of people living there.  So if the reason -- one of the reasons is:  Let's build it now instead of later because of population growth, because of encroachment, then what I would suggest to you is, you know what, if there is going to be a lot of people moving there and you know that there are already two high-pressure pipelines there, do you want to build another one there when you know there are people moving in; there is potential for a lot more people?

So I have difficulty with that one.  So is that a good reason?  Well, that's not for me to decide.  That's --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, can I just back up and ask you about that?  I don't understand.  If there are -- if we know there is going to be a lot of people, wouldn't you want to serve those people?

MS. CHEUNG:  I do, but not through building a new pipeline.  This is another high-pressure pipeline through a potentially populated area.  Why would you do that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you this.

MS. CHEUNG:  It's safety.  So that was one.

Now, the other one is that they said they want control.  Okay.  I can't argue with -- if you want control, then build it, because if that's the reason.  And then the other reason was they said that, by building a pipeline now, we lock in the cost.  I agree with that.  You lock in the cost, and, through depreciation, the cost of service will decline, whereas if you contract on a third party, the cost will go up.

So I said, "Okay.  Let's take a look at if that's true.  So if you take a look at FRPO 10, Attachment 1.  So take a look at the line 12, total cost of service.  Take a look at 2017 -- that's line 12.  You look at 2017.  That's -- the first full year of service is about $8.3 million.  Go to 2018.  It goes up to 8.5.  2019, it goes up again.  It keeps rising.  If you look at 2025, it is no longer 8.3 million; it is now 8.9 million.

So go up -- go to the following page to 2026.  The $8.3 million is now still 8.9, but now it starts to decline from the $8.9 million.  So where does it cross over?  In 2032, that is when you go below $8.5 million that you saw in 2017 -- or 2018, I'm sorry.  So, yes, over time, it does decline, but not for a long period of time.

So then your question to them was:  Should we wait, yeah, the capital costs will go up, but in the meantime, you saved -- if the no-build alternative is cheaper, you have saved all this money, and if there is going to be a lot of people moving in, in that area, maybe that's not the spot, maybe another spot.

If you look at OGVG 1.1, Attachment 1, there is lots of white space.  When I look at white space, that means nobody is there, hopefully, and maybe there a better location for the pipeline.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And your belief is just waiting -- Union is more likely to look at that by waiting?  And I would assume that --


MS. CHEUNG:  Well, by waiting, it gives you time to review many different things.  First of all, you can save money.  That's great; right?  And the second thing is:  Is Niagara going to become more liquid?  I don't know.  They don't know.  Nobody knows; right?  So it gives you -- it just gives you some more time to look at things.

But I do agree with them that --


MS. LONG:  Ms. Cheung, can I just ask you a question?  Mr. Rubenstein has asked you some questions with respect to issues, and you have talked a bit about siting of the pipeline.  But my understanding from your evidence is that is not something that you considered in proposing this alternative.

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me just ask you this last question.  Mr. Millar asked, yesterday, Union's panel if the OGVG position -- your alternative is accepted, what does that practically mean?  What does Union need to do to come before the Board?  And I just want to understand, because your expertise in costing -- what have they not provided in their reply evidence and the detail -- and the undertaking responses that you would expect them to be providing?  And I understand they're -- well, I will just put that to you.

MS. CHEUNG:  It's the -- when I suggested that Union should look at integrating this whole no-build alternative -- and when I say integrating is look at the design of the system, operation, and look at bringing in more supplies.  How do you integrate the whole thing together, not just a perfunctory here?  I look at this as an isolated -- isolated demand that I should meet.

No, I want them to -- the FT strategy, contracting strategy, that I was referring to is:  How much do you need to buy at Niagara in order to not build, and how do you grow that over time, and how do you integrate that?  How much capacity is on the Dawn Parkway system?  How much capacity that you can rely on for diversion, basically, firm diversion?  That's what's missing in the operationalized alternative that they have proposed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me just ask what that practically means.  Does that mean going to TransCanada and saying, "Will you provide us with a diversion?  Can you provide us with this service?"  Is that what that really means?

MS. CHEUNG:  No, because TransCanada will not provide you with firm diversion.  That's a -- that is a non-starter.  It's your comfort level.  Union does rely on some diversion.  And every shipper relies on some -- some diversion.  The question is:  Is it firm as far as I am concerned for all practical -- you know, for all practical purposes -- intents and purposes, and if you can -- if you can convince yourself, in this case Union, that, yes, I think we have got a really good chance of getting the firm diversion practically year round -- there may be a day or two that I can't get that diversion.  Okay?  So that's integration.

Now, in terms of TransCanada, it's not going back to TransCanada.  It is really combining their gas supply function with the design function, with the plan design function, because they look at it as two totally separate things.  I look at my system planning.  I look at how to reinforce my existing system.  That's one thing.  Gas supply, that's a totally different thing.

And this is one of those rare opportunities to look at both, because by looking at both, you can -- you may be able to get something is that saves money for the customers.  That is what I am talking about.  The next step is for them to go back, because I didn't look at how much -- whether or not you can buy gas at Niagara.

Liquidity, I talked about.  These are outstanding issues that I haven't dealt with; I have no expertise to deal with that.  Union does.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But let's put aside the upstream Niagara stuff for a moment, which you said you have no expertise in.  But putting that aside, the comments you have just mentioned are what Union would have to do from the downstream of Niagara related issues, the outstanding issues that they would actually have to look at.

MS. CHEUNG:  Nothing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm sorry?

MS. CHEUNG:  There is -- the only thing downstream is determining how much to contract for each year, the absolute amount.  It's not 276.  What is that number, and how does that number grow?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, really, all that would be outstanding, if the Board agreed with yours, is to say, practically speaking, send Union off and deal with all the upstream issues that may -- that need to be dealt with.  Am I correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Deal with the upstream issue -- combine the two.  Deal with the upstream issue, deal with how much you need to contract for, because they are tied together.

Your first question to me was. if they don't buy gas at Niagara, my proposal doesn't work.  It requires buying gas either at Niagara or upstream of Niagara, because it requires that gas to come in at Niagara, from my planning -- my system planning perspective.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are all my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

I think we will take a 15-minute break.  We will resume at 12:20 and then, at that point, we will start the cross-examination by Union.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 12:11 p.m.
--- On resuming at 12:30 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Okay.  We will now go to the cross-examination by Union.  Mr. Smith?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  Good morning -- or good afternoon now, Ms. Cheung.  You will be pleased to know that, with this morning's narrowing, we are going to be, I think, relatively brief.

A few questions for you, though, first, starting with your retainer.  Your evidence indicates that you were retained by the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers and Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters; is that correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  And can you tell me how were you retained?  Maybe I can help you.  Do you have a retainer agreement?

MS. CHEUNG:  No, I do not.  I -- in fact, I don't know how I am going to be paid yet.  I don't.

MR. SMITH:  That answers my next question, which was I was wondering if you had been paid yet and to whom you had sent your bill, but I take it you have done neither.

MS. CHEUNG:  And I was -- in fact, that was just -- I just raised that question a few days ago:  Who do I send my invoice to?  But how I was retained was near the end of May, I believe it was that weekend just before the May 24 long weekend.  If I remember correctly, it was around the last week in May.  I received a voice-mail from Mr. Quinn, and then we corresponded by e-mails that weekend.  We had a meeting the following Tuesday, I believe, in Calgary, and then the question asked to me was:  Is there -- you know, here is what Union applied for.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it your correspondence has primarily been with Mr. Quinn?

MS. CHEUNG:  Mr. Quinn as well as Mr. Thompson and Mr. DeRose.

MR. SMITH:  You mean Mr. Peter Thompson?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, Mr. Peter Thompson.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And when did you last have communication with Mr. Thompson?

MS. CHEUNG:  Oh, it was a long time ago.  I haven't -- since that initial period, that would have been at the end of May, June, and that was it, sadly, because I was really looking forward to working with Mr. Thompson on this case.

MR. SMITH:  We all look forward to that opportunity.  I have for many years.

MS. CHEUNG:  He cross-examined me, actually, but I have not -- I would say maybe June was the last time.  I really do not recall.

MR. SMITH:  And do you recall whether you had any communication with anybody from OGVG?

MS. CHEUNG:  Other than Mr. Quinn, no.

MR. SMITH:  I ask the question, because yesterday, when Mr. Quinn put in an appearance, he put in an appearance on behalf of FRPO, but not on behalf of OGVG.  You would have noticed that as well.

MR. DeROSE:  Can I just -- before she answers this, this seems to not be a question for our expert.  I mean, Mr. Quinn's representation seems to be an issue that is clearly not within the scope in any way of Ms. Cheung's evidence.  Unless Mr. Smith can explain it to me, I just don't see the relevance to Ms. Cheung.

MR. SMITH:  Well, the proposition is relatively straightforward.  The evidence is stated to be sponsored by OGVG, and I would have expected, if OGVG was putting the evidence forward, that there would have been an appearance on behalf of OGVG, and I was surprised yesterday when there wasn't, so that is why I am asking the questions.

In any event, Ms. Cheung, you haven't had any communications with anybody at OGVG, have you?

MS. CHEUNG:  Only through Mr. Quinn.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, let me ask you about the scope of your proposal, and I must say I was a little bit confused by some of your answers, but can I ask you to just turn to your report, or your evidence.

MS. CHEUNG:  I have it.

MR. SMITH:  And in your report, Ms. Cheung, you set out what you describe as the "Alternative."

MS. CHEUNG:  Under section 3 of the report?

MR. SMITH:  Well, let's go to paragraph 21.  It's on page 6.

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you say, "Under the Alternative described above," and there is only one alternative described in your report; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And then you go on to say:

"Under the Alternative described above, Union would source up to a total of 276 TJs from Niagara to the Burlington Oakville area by 2035."

And that's what your alternative is set out to be; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  The alternative would work up to 276 TJs per day; that is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And, in fact, if you look down at paragraph 23, again, you refer to the 276 TJs per day; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then, if we look over at the table, you look at a variety of scenarios which range from 200 TJs per day to 276 TJs per day; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that nowhere in your report, Ms. Cheung, do you ever reference a number less than 200 TJs per day?

MS. CHEUNG:  Not in the report.  In the report I looked at, as I said before, it's up to -- and -- now, I did clarify that, though, when the Board asked questions --


MR. SMITH:  Ms. Cheung, can I just have an answer to my question?

MS. CHEUNG:  In the report I said "up to."

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, I did have another question on -- can you turn to Attachment 9 of your report?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I have it.

MR. SMITH:  And in Attachment 9 of your report, you refer to -- you have certain tolls set out there.  Do you see that?

MS. CHEUNG:  You mean under "Current Rates"?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And in particular, the rates I would like you to focus on is the Parkway to CDA rate -- do you see that -- of 15.63 cents, and the Niagara to CDA, 21.88 cents; do you see that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Now, you are aware, I take it, that the National Energy Board has now approved new final tolls for TransCanada?

MS. CHEUNG:  I will take your word for it.  I knew that they were interim.

MR. SMITH:  And you are not aware that they had finalized tolls?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, they did eventually.  I recall that, but I do not remember when.  But if you take a look at the sources it was based on, the current TransCanada rates are interim tolls effective Jan. 1, 2015, and I agree.

MR. SMITH:  And those tolls have since become final.  You are aware of that.

MS. CHEUNG:  Okay.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Are you aware of that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  What are the final tolls?

MS. CHEUNG:  Those were presented in Union's information request to a FRPO response.

MR. SMITH:  Can you just tell me what those are, specifically Parkway to CDA and Niagara to CDA?

MS. CHEUNG:  I don't have the number handy, but I could look it up.

MR. SMITH:  Can we do this:  Can you provide it to me by way of undertaking?

MS. CHEUNG:  I certainly will.

MR. SMITH:  And can you please ensure that you include the abandonment surcharge in that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Oh, just a minute.  In Exhibit D, FRPO.9 -- oh, my apologies, these were from Niagara and not from Parkway.  I will undertake to provide you with the final tolls, including abandonment surcharge.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  That's Undertaking J2.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO PROVIDE THE FINAL TOLLS, INCLUDING ABANDONMENT SURCHARGE

MR. SMITH:  Now, I take it you have reviewed the RH-1-2014 decision?

MS. CHEUNG:  No.

MR. SMITH:  Have you not?  You are not familiar with it?

MS. CHEUNG:  No.

MR. SMITH:  So you don't know whether or not TransCanada has already received approval from the National Energy Board to split the Union CDA into the ECDA and the amended CDA?

MS. CHEUNG:  I have read that portion -- you are talking about that settlement agreement.  I have read the settlement agreement, yes.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, not just the settlement agreement.  But to be precise, are you aware that TransCanada has received approval now from the National Energy Board to split the Union CDA into the ECDA and the amended CDA?  Were you aware of that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Can you give me that reference again?

MR. SMITH:  Well, it's RH-1-2014.

MS. CHEUNG:  And the RH-1-2014 decision is with respect to the settlement agreement with the LDCs?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. CHEUNG:  So, then, in that decision, they have approved the settlement agreement, and the settlement agreement does not say that -- it's contingent upon receiving Ontario Energy Board approval for this pipeline.

MR. SMITH:  Do you have the RH-1-2014 decision on your screen?

MR. DeROSE:  Can I just -- I'm sorry to interrupt, and if the questions -- if we are almost at the end of the questions on this decision, then that's fine.  But the normal courtesy that people would afford witnesses is, when you are going to rely on a decision, particularly when the decision is from somewhere outside of the OEB, is to certainly provide it in advance and, if not providing it in advance, to give copies of the decision.

So if the only issue is if she's aware of the decision and that the settlement agreement has been approved, I don't have a problem with it.  But if Mr. Smith is going to be asking a number of questions about the details of the decision, I think it's fair that the decision should be put before this panel and before all of us.

MR. SMITH:  The only purpose for the question was to establish that TransCanada has already received approval to split the Union CDA into the ECDA and the amended CDA, which I thought was a matter that Ms. Cheung would have been aware of without the necessity of the decision.  So that is why I didn't bring a copy.  If the answer is that Ms. Cheung is not aware of that, that's fine, too.  And if the answer is that the decision speaks for itself, also fine.  And if the answer is they have received the approval, that's fine, too.

MS. CHEUNG:  I will tell you, because I just pulled it up, as I have it -- so as it turned out, I do have the entire decision on my computer, and the reason I have that is because I needed the mainline agreement, the settlement agreement.

So on the section relating to the modified, this would be --


MR. DeROSE:  Can I suggest this?  Rather than Ms. Cheung trying to read the decision while on the stand, if Mr. Smith wants to put the facts of the decision, I think the decision will speak for itself.  I suspect that Ms. Cheung can --I would certainly recommend that she accept it, subject to check, and that's --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, Mr. DeRose.

Mr. Smith, just for my benefit, can you rephrase what your question is?

MR. SMITH:  I'm just simply asking whether the National Energy Board has now approved splitting the Union CDA delivery area into two delivery areas, the ECDA and the amended CDA.  And if Ms. Cheung wants to take that subject to check, that's fine.

MS. CHEUNG:  Okay.  I will take that subject to check.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Ms. Cheung, when you were answering questions this morning in response to Mr. Rubenstein, he asked you about Niagara and sourcing gas at Niagara, and I think you fairly observed you don't have any expertise in relation to that; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And then you talked about getting gas upstream of Niagara; do you recall that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that's also something that you don't have expertise in; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  All right.  Now, one of the things that you talked about this morning was contracting from Niagara to the Union ECDA.  Do you recall that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And that contract would require Union to divert gas being transported on that path; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  I --


MR. SMITH:  You testified this morning with respect to diversions.  You recall that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.  The diversion was to Kirkwall.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, you are quite correct.  And diversions are not firm; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the extent to which -- what you said, then -- and I made a note of it -- is the question then with the diversions is the extent to which this is a real risk or a perceived risk.  Do you recall giving that evidence?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And, fundamentally, the decision, Ms. Cheung, whether to take on that risk is a decision that a gas distribution company has to make; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that's the core responsibility of the gas supply department; correct?

MS. CHEUNG:  Is it the gas supply department, or is it the contracting department?

MR. SMITH:  Well, the contracting department is responsible for entering into the contracts to meet gas supply, at least at Union.  You are aware of that?

MS. CHEUNG:  No, not from what I heard from the Union panel, or in my reading of the application.  I have been told so many times the two are separate issues.

MR. SMITH:  Well, Ms. Cheung, you recall that Mr. Shorts testified yesterday with respect to whether Union could rely on interruptible diversions.  You are aware of that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you are aware that Mr. Shorts is the director of gas supply?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And it was Mr. Shorts' view that, as the director of gas supply, he could not rely on diversions which were interruptible.  You recall that?

MS. CHEUNG:  Yes, I recall he said that.

MR. SMITH:  And making that decision, as a director of gas supply, is a decision that you have never made.

MS. CHEUNG:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Any questions from Staff?

MR. MILLAR:  My areas have been covered, so I have no questions.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Any questions?

Okay.  Any redirect then from Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  Can you just give me just 30 seconds?

DR. ELSAYED:  Take your time.
Re-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Panel.

I have one clarification issue.  There has been a lot of talk about diversions, and there was some talk about summer diversions and winter diversions.  Ms. Cheung, can you just comment?  Is there, from your experience, a difference between summer diversions and winter diversions, and, if so, what would the difference be?

MS. CHEUNG:  The difference between the summer diversion and winter diversion is the amount of capacity that's available on a pipeline.  Generally speaking, there is more capacity in the wintertime than there is in the summertime, if there are compressors, because of the temperature effects.

So then, when Union is talking about they have concerns about the firmness of the diversion, I think they were referring more to the summertime as opposed to the wintertime.  So, then, whether it's summertime or wintertime, there is no firm diversion.  The question is whether or not there is capacity available on the system, and, in this case, for all intents and purposes, there is no difference between winter and summer diversion, because it's available.  The capacity is there, winter or summer.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

Thank you very much, Panel.  Subject to any questions you may have, we are complete.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. DeRose.

Anything else before we conclude?

MR. SMITH:  Only one final issue.  I think I -- because of my more intermittent involvement in this proceeding -- I apologize if this has been dealt with -- but I am not sure whether the issue of argument or the schedule for argument has been dealt with or not.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, I was going to address that now.

MR. SMITH:  Then I will be patient.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I think there has been some discussion about the appropriate durations for next steps, and here are the dates that I have in front of me, and I am obviously open to any questions about that.  We are now suggesting that the argument-in-chief by Union be submitted in writing on October -- by October 2.  Submissions by the parties will be due by October 16, and reply submission by Union by October 30.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Well, if there is nothing else, I just would like to thank everybody for participating in this hearing.  This completes the oral hearing, and have a good weekend, everyone.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:52 p.m.
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